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Introduction

This report is for a project of work conducted for Roy Homes Ltd on behalf of Mr. A Kerr by the author for an archaeological watching brief and photographic survey for a development at 1 Station Road Fortrose per planning application 01/00530/COMRC.   
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Development Plan of Garage

Location of trenches marked in red.
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1st edition OS Map of 1871
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2nd edition OS Map of 1905
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Plan of Buildings
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Above – Plan of Bake-House and Garage 1:200

Below – Ground and 1st floor plan of Stable/Granary block 1:200
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Photographic Plan of Standing Buildings

Numbers relate to photographic register.
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Historical Background

The origins of Fortrose relate to the Cathedral of Ross that was removed from nearby Rosemarkie to Fortrose c1240, the church being the chief benefactor of the Earls of Ross. (Alston, 1999) James II united Fortrose with the village of Rosemarkie in 1445. Granted a share in the burgh of Rosemarkie in 1455 becoming a Royal burgh in its own right in 1590 and being annexed to Rosemarkie in 1592 (Gifford, 1992). An Act of Parliament by James VI ratified its right as a Royal burgh in 1661. Station Road is named after the opening of the railway station in 1893.

Archaeological Background

The site is partly recorded in the Highland Sites and Monuments Record and the National Monuments Record of Scotland CANMORE databases as follows:

HSMR – NH75NW 38

NMRS – NH75NW 56

Type – Garage

Grid Ref – NH 72670/56660

No information available in the HSMR, the NMRS only notes building as a granary.

Currently little archaeological work has been undertaken in the burgh. The following projects have been undertaken in the vicinity:

· NH 7270/5660 (to the SE) Union Street - work by SUAT in 1993 (SUAT, 1993) 2 trenches revealed subsoil to an average depth of 1.3m onto sand though only 18m² was excavated. Only find was of demolition material and some white glazed pottery of no earlier than the 19th century.

· NH 7275/5671 (to the E) 69-71 & 73 High Street – work by SUAT in 2001 (SUAT, 2001) 6 trenches revealed no features earlier than 18th-19th century with only 1 sherd of medieval pottery recovered from topsoil.

· NH 7259/5660 (to the W) Tavern Lane – work by Marjorie Kenworthy (Kenworthy, 2001) work around former store (with lintel with date of 1683) revealed 3 features that were excavated and named as pits. Finds included medieval pottery and a silver penny with a possible 14th century date.

Archaeological work to date shows that there are some earlier deposits to be found in the burgh though work has been limited.

Site History

The area of the proposed development possibly lies in the area of ground owned by the Precentor of the cathedral (See map in Alston, 1999, 174 - if compared to boundaries on 1st edition OS). 

The area of the proposed development is a former garage and a former bakery with a granary/stable block to the rear. The main house to the street frontage is currently numbered 49 High Street (formerly numbered 33) and contains a date-stone of 1874 that includes a wheat-sheaf. (See photograph over) The frontage of the building pertains to it formerly being a shop, with the bakery to the rear. To when the building’s were built is unknown, what significance the date-stone of 1874 has is also currently unknown. Cartographic evidence shows that the granary/stables building to the rear is not depicted on the Ordnance Survey map of 1871 (surveyed 1868-9) but are marked on the map of 1905 (see over) though the bakery range is. 

The problem of this currently is that graffiti in the stable block (see photographic survey below) includes a date of 1864, which means that the OS map of 1871 is possibly incorrect?
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Date Stone of 1874 in S Gable of High Street Frontage

Business History

A survey of the census returns for Fortrose between1871-1901 shows a John Macleod as a baker here. (See appendix 3) These records note not only an expanding family who mostly worked in the shop and bakery but also that he continued to employ staff. Also John Macleod is recorded of being a baker on 10th April 1871 under the roll of burgesses for Fortrose (HC Archives 1/1/9). 

The origins of the bakery business are unknown, though John Macleod was born at Redcastle in Ross-shire (In 1871 census) it is unknown where he served his apprenticeship.  
Because Fortrose was a Royal Burgh, Fortrose had its own separate valuation Rolls (few of which are available in Inverness) those records that are available in the Highland Council Archives for Fortrose burgh only date from 1909 to 1927 which note that J Macleod died sometime after 1911 when his widow is noted as owning the bakery with it being leased to a Mr. Murdo Matheson between 1912 and1916 (when the building is now recorded separately) then there is a gap of a couple of years until 1919 when the building is now recorded as being owned by George Pirie a baker in Avoch with the bakery being recorded as vacant. The bakery is not listed after 1930, with 49 High Street being listed as a shop, with house and garden recorded separately. (See appendix 4) 

Unfortunately census returns are currently not available post 1901, and no business records survive (either in HC Archives or in Inverness Museum or Groam House Museum, Rosemarkie) for the bakery though a John McLeod Baker & Confectioner does appear in Slater’s Directory for 1911, no McLeod is recorded in trade directories for either 1860 or 1940. No plans of the building exist in the Dean of Guild Records for Fortrose held in the Highland Council Archives that only start after 1894. No records for the building survive in the Burgh of Fortrose Chartularies or other burgh records. (Highland Council Archives D229). No records exist for J Macleod, M Matheson and G Pirie in the National Register of Archives, Edinburgh.

It is likely from the valuation rolls that the bakery went out of use circa 1916.

Project Objectives

To conduct a photographic survey of the buildings on the development prior to their demolition and to conduct a watching brief on the excavation of the development to record those features revealed by excavation work. A copy of the specification’s provided by Highland Council Archaeology Unit are enclosed to the rear.

Photographic Survey

A photographic survey was undertaken on November 30th 2002 (weather was partly cloudy) both of external and internal views of the buildings being demolished. A plan was also made of the buildings (see over). Description of buildings is as follows:

1 – Garage on north side of bakehouse rubble built (mixture of yellow and pink sandstone and beach stone) with slate roof, lead flashing on ridge-line, cast-iron guttering, concrete floor, small skylight in roof with window in north elevation and no features evident internally; possibly has always been garage/van shed. Shed abuts onto bakehouse and may be slightly later in date in its construction. 
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View of garage and bake-house facing SE.

2 – Bakehouse rubble built (mixture of yellow and pink sandstone and beach stone, harled) with slate roof; lead flashing on roofline, cast-iron guttering, and concrete floor. No trace of chimney, though outside on roof ridgeline is evidence of its location. Blocked up entrance to west elevation, also blocked up doorway to south internally (former entrance through to shop on high street). Internally part of oven range still insitu of cast-iron frame over yellow sandstone blocks with boiler and small firebox to east wall. Boiler is marked Cruickshank Ltd Bakery Engineers Edinburgh. Most of the oven had already been demolished prior to site visit (prior to this project being undertaken) though some fireclay bricks are still visible on the east wall (marked Preston Grange). Walls are partly plastered with lathe and plaster ceiling, all timbers visible are machine cut.

Bricks from Prestongrange Brickworks date mostly from the 1890’s until 1947 though the works had started as early as 1812. (NMRS Manuscript; Douglas and Ogelthorpe, 1993) A search of Post Office Directories in the NMRS Library noted that the firm of J Cruickshank was formed between 1890 and 1903. An advert in the directory of 1908-9 shows the services they offered. Therefore it is likely that the oven was rebuilt circa 1900. Range size is 1.5m by 0.85m with oven door 0.5m x 0.7m.
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3 – Granary is rubble built (mixture of yellow and pink sandstone and beach stone) with slate roof, 3 skylights of cast-iron, lead flashing on roofline, cast-iron guttering and a cobbled floor (only partially remaining). Internally stalls still to be seen on the ground floor at the east end with part of hay feed rack still in place. On 1st floor small living area with fireplace in west gable to west end of building (A detailed study of the fireplace was not possible due to the gable wall falling away from the building), to the east hatches for putting hay down to stables below also doorway for sack hoist. Latterly used as a garage and storage.

On the north wall of the living area are a number of names as graffiti on the plaster wall. (See photograph over and see list - appendix 2) Dates range from 1864 to 1915 (mostly circa 1912-1914) and they include former employees of the bakery and the daughter of the owner of the bakery Netta Macleod. (See appendix 3) A tracing was made of the graffiti and will be deposited with the National Monuments Record of Scotland, Edinburgh as part of the project archive.
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View of stable/granary block facing NE – Digital Image 4.
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View of fireplace on 1st floor west end – Digital Image 7.
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View of some of the Graffiti – Digital Image 11

Date stone in external west gable of stable block with initials C B S with crossed spades (?) on an armorial panel below a crown for ‘Countess Barbara Seaforth’ and is reputed to come from the site of Fortrose Castle (information from Mr. A Kerr). No information about the stone is available in any of the local histories of Fortrose (Anon, 1912; Anon, 1963; RACE, nd) other than what the initials stand for. [Currently this stone is to be kept and built into new building] It is noted in the NMRS that Fortrose Castle or Seaforth Castle was built between 1497 and 1507 and was the seat of the Earls of Seaforth. The building is possibly shown in a print of 1693 and stood at NH 7270/5672.
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Detail of Armorial Panel in W Gable – Digital Image 2

Watching Brief Investigation

The watching brief was carried out in accordance with accepted professional archaeological standards as published by the Institute of Field Archaeologists (IFA 1999). Over the construction period the author was on site to carry out observations and assessment of the area affected by the excavation works. 

Methodology

A monitoring was made of the removal of remaining demolition material and subsoil’s by a back-acting machine. 3 foundation trenches for the garage were made partly by a small-toothed bucket but underlying natural was hand cleaned.

Results for Garage

Weather on the day of work (December 4th 2002) was partly cloudy. A monitoring of the excavation revealed no archaeological features or deposits, though the excavation was limited to 3 small strip foundations 0.6m wide along the frontage with Station Road for 9m and 2 small trenches up to 4.2m in length running E-W with the existing wall on the east side remaining. Natural orange-brown sand was revealed at an average depth of 0.72m. Some rubble/demolition material was revealed in the section of the trench nearest the existing bakehouse doorway that may be result of the construction of the building fronting the High Street since it mostly comprised of yellow sandstone fragments. Excavations in the former garage area revealed only an extra concrete floor underlying the existing overlying red sandstone fragments, probably as result of construction of the bakehouse. 
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View of trench facing N along Station Road frontage – photo 36.

Conclusions

Currently the work carried out to date has shown little archaeology earlier than the bake-house that dates to circa 1870 and which went out of use circa 1916. It is still likely that other archaeological deposits may survive under the stable/granary block.

Recommendations

Currently (18th February 2003) the stable/granary block is yet to be demolished and a watching brief will be required on the house plot and its associated services. It may be possible in the future that other records may come available to the bakery’s history. A further avenue of research might be a detailed study of local newspapers to gain more information on this site.

Archive

Notebook of results, black and white photographs & negatives, tracing of graffiti in stable/granary are to be deposited in the National Monuments Record in Edinburgh. A set of black & white photographs of the buildings and a set of colour slides showing the progress of the work has been deposited with Highland Council Sites and Monuments Record. Digital images used in this report have been deposited with HSMR on disc as well as a copy of this report as a PDF file.

Discovery & Excavation in Scotland

A short summary of the results of this project will be submitted to the Council for Scottish Archaeology’s publication Discovery & Excavation in Scotland.
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Appendix 1 – Details of Slides & Black & White Photographs

Film 1

1 – View of West elevation of bake-house facing E.

2 – View of garage and bake-house facing SE.

3 – View of N elevation of garage.

4 – View of W gable of stable/granary block.

5 – Detail of armorial stone in W gable.

6 – View of stable/granary block facing NE.

7 – Detail of corner of stable/granary block.

8 – View of front of stable/granary block facing N.

9 – ibid.

10 – Detail of door on 1st floor of stable/granary block.

11 – View of rear of bake-house and garage facing SW.

12 – Detail of W gable of stable/granary block facing N.

13 – View of inside of garage facing E.

14 – Detail of hole in wall of garage.

15 – Detail of oven – scale 2m facing N.

16 – ibid.

17 – ibid but facing NE.

18 – Rear of oven.

19 – Detail of boiler on east side of oven.

20 – Detail of oven – scale 2m facing N.

21 – View of remains of oven facing NE.

22 – Detail of stalls in stable – scale 2m facing NE.

23 – Detail of stall facing N – scale 2m

24 – Detail of fireplace W end on 1st floor of stable/granary block.

25 – Detail of graffiti on north wall.

26 – Ibid.

27 – Ibid.

28 – Ibid.

29 – Detail of corner of stable/granary block.

30 – Detail of cast-iron guttering to NW corner of stable/granary block.

31 – View of shop frontage on High Street.

32 – Detail of date-stone on high street frontage.

33 – View of bake-house upon demolition facing SE.

34 – Detail of central foundation trench for new garage facing E.
35 – View of western foundation trench for new garage facing N.

36 – View of northern foundation trench for new garage facing E.

Digital Images

1 – View of bake-house facing SE.

2 – Armorial panel in W gable of stable/granary block.

3 – Detail of corner stones of W gable of stable/granary block.

4 – View of stable/granary block facing NE.

5 – View of NE corner of bake-house and garage facing SW.

6 – View of oven – scale 2m.

7 – Detail of fireplace W end of stable/granary block 1st floor.

8 – View of graffiti in stable/granary block 1st floor.

9 – Ibid.

10 – Ibid.

11 – Detail of ibid.

12 – Date stone of 1874 in S gable of High Street frontage.

13 – View of street frontage facing N.

Appendix 2 – List of Names on Graffiti

W Watson May 1st 1915




John Forsyth Van Man

Kenneth Anderson Ness Fortrose Aug 20 1912

Will (3 times)

Netta Macleod Fortrose March 11th 1905


Jack ?

Jane McDonald Fortrose March 11th 1905


Crissie Fo? Avoch

William Campbell 1 Jan 1914 Head van man


Scot C

John Forsyth Feb 1864 (circled)



William Campbell

Donald Price 1 January 1914 second van man

Donald Pirie

John Forsyth 5 Feb 1864 (circled)



Sam

William Campbell 4th August 1913



Donald Pirie 1st Jan 1914

Sam Polston (?) Baker Fortrose Ross-shire


John Clark 1912

D McLean Alness Ross-shire


           John Forsyth 16 Feb 1914
Appendix 3 – Details of Census Returns 1871 – 1901

1871 - High Street Fortrose

John McLeod

Head

26
Baker (master) Employing 1 man

Jessie McLeod

Wife

25


Bella McLeod

Daughter
2

Ann McDonald

Servant

17
Domestic Servant

Margaret McK McLeod
Daughter
3m
Bakers Daughter

1881 – High Street Fortrose

John Macleod

Husband
35
Baker (employing 1 man)

Jessie Macleod

Wife

34
Wife

Isabella Macleod

Daughter
11
Scholar

Margt Macleod

Daughter
10
Scholar

Robert Macleod

Son

3

Charles Mcleod

Nephew
17
Baker

Eliza Reid


Servant

17
General servant

1891 – 33 High Street Fortrose

John Macleod

Husband
46
Baker
Jessie Macleod

Wife

45
Baker’s wife

Maggie Macleod

Daughter
20
Baker’s shopkeeper

Robert G Macleod

Son

13
Scholar

Hugh A Macleod

Son

9
Scholar

Janetta Macleod

Daughter
1

Janet Jack


Servant

21
General domestic servant

Duncan McKenzie

Servant

27
Baker

John McLeod



17
Baker’s apprentice

Alexander Leys



16
Baker’s apprentice

1901 – High Street Fortrose

John Macleod 

Husband
55
Baker

Jessie Macleod

Wife

54
Baker’s wife

Isabella Macleod

Daughter
31
Baker’s assistant

Margaret Macleod

Daughter
29
Shop assistant

Robert Macleod

Son

21
Baker

Katherine Macleod

Daughter
15
Scholar

Janetta Macleod

Daughter
11
Scholar

Helen Gray


Servant

19
General Domestic Servant

Benjamin Jack

Servant

18
Van man
Appendix 4 – Summary of Valuation Rolls

1909-10

Shop & Bakehouse
- Owner John Macleod Baker
£6

House & garden
- Owner ibid


£10

1910-11

Shop & Bakehouse
- Owner John Macleod Baker
£6

House & garden
- Owner ibid


£10

House & Garden
- Owner ibid


£13 

1911-12

Shop & Bakehouse
- Owner John Macleod Baker
£6

House & garden
- Owner ibid


£10

House & Garden
- Owner ibid


£12

1912-13

Shop & Bakehouse
- Owner Mrs Jessie Macleod Widow


- Tenant – Murdo Matheson Baker
£30

House & garden
- Owner ibid



£13

House & garden
- Tenant – Francis Davidson Postman
£12

1913-16

Shop & Bakehouse
- Owner Mrs Jessie Macleod Widow


- Tenant – Murdo Matheson Baker
£30

House & garden
- Owner ibid



£13

House & garden
- Owner ibid



£12

1916-17

Shop

- Owner Mrs Jessie Macleod Widow

Tenant – William Munro, Falcon Square Inverness

Trustees of Murdo Matheson Baker
£15

Bakehouse & outbuildings – Owner ibid – Vacant

£15

House & garden
- Owner ibid



£13

House & garden
- Tenant – Francis Davidson Postman
£12

1919-20

Shop & tearoom
- Owner George Pirie Baker Avoch
£14

Bakehouse & outbuildings – Owner ibid – Vacant

£10

House & garden
- Tenant – Alex Christie Carpenter
£14

1921-22

Shop & tearoom
- Owner George Pirie Baker Avoch
£15

Bakehouse & outbuildings – Owner ibid – Vacant

£10

House & garden
- Tenant – Alex Christie Carpenter
£18.4

1923-24

Shop & tearoom
- Owner George Pirie Baker Avoch
£15

Bakehouse & outbuildings – Owner ibid – Vacant

£10

House & garden
- Tenant – Alex Christie Carpenter
£18.4

1925-26

Shop & tearoom
- Owner George Pirie Baker Avoch
£15

Bakehouse & outbuildings – Owner ibid – Vacant

£10

House & garden
- Owner – ibid



£18.4

1926-27

Shop & tearoom
- Owner Kenneth A MacDonald

£15

Bakehouse & outbuildings – Owner ibid – Vacant

£10

House & garden
- Owner ibid



£18.4
1930-31

49 High Street – Owner - Alexander Ross, Greenkeeper



         Tenant – Isabella Ross, merchant
rent £15

1934-35

49 High Street – ibid

House & Garden – owned by Miss M N Smith, Avoch

1939-1940

49 High Street – Owner Alexander Ross (retd)



         Tenant – Isabella Ross, merchant
rent £15
